
Chehalis City Council Meeting 

March 8, 2021 

 

IMPORTANT NOTICE 
   
The March 8 Chehalis City Council will be held in-person with some restrictions. 
 
On February 1, Lewis County moved to Phase 2 of the Governor’s Healthy Washington – Roadmap 
to Recovery Plan, which means cities may hold limited, in-person meetings in addition to virtual 
options.  The capacity of these meetings is limited to 25% of the posted room capacity or 200 
individuals – whichever is fewer (excludes staff).  The posted room capacity for the Chehalis 
Council Chambers is 49, which means 12 members of the public may be in attendance. 
 
Cities must continue to provide the public virtual access to meetings.  Options for attending 
remotely remain the same: 
 

1. Live-Stream 
 

View and listen through live streaming by using the following link –  
https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/citycouncil/live-streaming-and-demand-viewing-city-council-meetings 

 
or 
 

2. Telephone 
 

Dial:  1-253-215-8782 
 
Meeting ID: 822 5811 8879 
 
Passcode: 674890 
 
 

Citizens wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit 
comments by 4:00 pm on the day of the meeting.  All comments received will be acknowledged 
by the Mayor under the Citizens Business portion of the meeting agenda.  Please use the 
following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  If you do not have 
computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Caryn 
Foley at 360-345-1042 or at cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Citizens Business comments will be limited 
to five (5) minutes. 
 
If you have any questions about live streaming the meeting or submitting a comment, please 
contact City Clerk Caryn Foley at cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us or 360-345-1042. 
 
 

The City truly appreciates the community’s cooperation 
and patience during this challenging time. 

 

https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/HealthyWashington.pdf
https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/HealthyWashington.pdf
https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/citycouncil/live-streaming-and-demand-viewing-city-council-meetings
https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us
mailto:cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us


 

 

CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
 

CITY HALL 
350 N MARKET BLVD  |  CHEHALIS, WA   98532 

 
 
 

Dennis L. Dawes, Position at Large 
Mayor 

Jerry Lord, District 1   
Daryl J. Lund, District 2, Mayor Pro Tem 
Dr. Isaac S. Pope, District 4                                                                                                                                                                                       

                                                    Anthony E. Ketchum Sr., District 3   
                                                     Robert J. Spahr, Position at Large   
                                                   Michael Bannan, Position at Large                                           

 

 
Regular Meeting of Monday, March 8, 2021 

5:00 pm 
 
 

1. Call to Order.  (Mayor) 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance.  (Mayor)  
 

 
 

 
 

ITEM 
ADMINISTRATION 

RECOMMENDATION 
PAGE 

SPECIAL BUSINESS 
3. Swearing-in of New Council Member – Michael Bannan.  (Mayor Dawes) 
 
4. City Council Committee Assignments.  (Mayor) 
 

SWEAR IN NEW 
COUNCIL MEMBER 

 

REVIEW 

 

 
1 

 

 
 

   

CITIZENS BUSINESS 
Citizens wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit comments by 4:00 pm on 
the day of the meeting.  All comments received will be acknowledged by the Mayor under Citizens Business of this 
meeting agenda.  Please use the following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  If you 
do not have computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Caryn Foley at 
360-345-1042 or at cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Citizens Business comments will be limited to five (5) minutes. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:cfoley@ci.chehalis.wa.us


 

 

ITEM 
ADMINISTRATION 

RECOMMENDATION 
PAGE 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
5. Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of February 22, 2021.  (City Clerk) 
 
6. Minutes of the Special City Council Meeting of March 1, 2021.  (City Clerk) 
 
7. Vouchers and Transfers – Accounts Payable in the Amount of $229,982.58 Dated  
    February 26, 2021.  (City Manager, Finance Director) 
 
8. Vouchers and Transfers – Payroll in the Amount of $770,705.24 Dated February 26, 2021.  
    (City Manager, Finance Director) 
 
9. 12th and William Rechannelization Project – Change Order No. 1 in the Amount of  
    $19,538.82.  (City Manager, Public Works Director) 
 
10. Agreement to Lease Tract 9 at 1850 NW Louisiana Avenue to O’Brien Auto Group, an  
      Illinois Corporation.  (City Manager, Public Works Director, Airport Operations  
      Coordinator) 

 

APPROVE 
 
 

APPROVE 
 

APPROVE 
 

 
APPROVE 

 

 
APPROVE 

 
 

APPROVE 

5 
 

7 
 

9 
 
 

11 
 
 

12 
 
 

16 

 
 
 

 

ITEM 
ADMINISTRATION 

RECOMMENDATION 
PAGE 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
11. Ordinance No. 1017-B, Second and Final Reading – Establishing 2020 Year-End Fund  
      Balance Commitments.  (City Manager, Finance Director) 
 

PASS 
 

59 
 

 
 
 

 

ITEM 
ADMINISTRATION 

RECOMMENDATION 
PAGE 

ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS   

12. Administration Reports.       
 

              a. City Manager Update.  (City Manager) 
                
13. Councilor Reports/Committee Updates.  (City Council)   
 

INFORMATION ONLY 
 

 

 
INFORMATION ONLY 

-  -  - 
 

 
-  -  - 

 
 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

14. Pursuant to RCW: 
 

          a. 42.30.110(1)(c) – Sale/Lease of Real Estate 
 

          b. 42.30.110(1)(i) – Litigation/Potential Litigation 
                                                    

 
THE CITY COUNCIL MAY ADD AND TAKE ACTION ON OTHER ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THIS AGENDA. 

NEXT REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING IS MONDAY, MARCH 22, 2021. 



 

 

CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Caryn Foley, City Clerk 
 
MEETING OF:  March 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:  City Council Committee Assignments 
  

 
ISSUE 
 

Due to the resignation of Chad Taylor from the City Council, various council committee assignments 
previously covered by the former City Councilor will need to be reassigned to other City Councilors, 
including recently appointed City Councilor, Michael Bannan.   
 

DISCUSSION 
 

During the February 22, 2021 City Council meeting, two of the committee assignments were delegated.  
Councilor Ketchum volunteered to represent the city on the Twin Transit Board and Councilor Lord 
volunteered to serve on the Lodging Tax Advisory Committee. 
 
The committee assignments that now need to be reassigned are listed below.  The complete list of 
committee assignments is attached to this report to provide meeting information details. 
 

• 911 Dispatch Committee 

• Beautification Committee 

• CARES COVID-19 Community Program 

• Centralia-Chehalis Transportation Cooperative 

• Lewis County Transportation Strategy Council 

• SWW Regional Transportation Planning Organization 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 

There is no fiscal impact related to this agenda item. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is requested that the City Council review the list of vacant committee assignments and that 
assignments are made as deemed appropriate by the City Council.  
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

There is no suggested motion.  

1



Council Committee/Board Assignments
Approved 2/10/2020

Updated 9/14/2020

Updated 2/8/2021

Updated 2/22/2021

Board/Committee Council Staff Meeting Info

911 Dispatch Committee Dawes City Mgr TBD
Pope Police Chief
Taylor Fire Chief

Beautification Committee Pope Planning & Building Mgr TBD
Spahr Police Chief
Taylor

CARES COVID-19 Community Program Lund City Mgr As needed
Pope
Taylor

Centralia-Chehalis Transportation Cooperative Ketchum City Mgr Does not currently meet
Spahr Public Works Dir
Taylor

Chehalis Basin Flood Authority Public Works Dir 3rd Thurs of each month
9:00 AM

Chehalis Community Renaissance Team Ketchum City Mgr 2nd Fri of each month
Lord City Mgr's Admin Asst 8:30 AM
Pope City Hall

Chehalis Foundation Pope 3rd Tues of each month
11:30 AM
City Hall

Chehalis-Napavine-LCSD No. 4 Pope As needed
Sewer Operations Spahr

Chehalis Parks Subcommittee Lord City Mgr As needed
Lund Recreation Mgr
Pope

2



Board/Committee Council Staff Meeting Info

Chehalis River Basin Partnership City Rep: Terry Harris Wastwater Supt 4th Fri of each month
Water Supt 9:30 AM

Lucky Eagle Casino, Rochester

Council Budget Committee Dawes Quarterly
Lord City Mgr
Spahr Finance Dir

Council GMA Committee Pope (Chair) As needed
Dawes
Ketchum

Council Parking Committee Lord As needed
Lund
Spahr

Council Voucher Committee Dawes Twice per month to review and sign vouchers
Pope Finance Department
Spahr

Fire Consolidation Subcommittee Dawes City Mgr As needed
Lund Fire Chief 6:00 PM
Spahr Lewis County Fire District 6 Station

Lewis County Historical Museum Board Ketchum 3rd Tues of each month
5:00 PM
Historical Museum

Lewis County LEOFF Disability Board TBD 3rd Fri of each month
3:00 PM
Lewis County Commissioner' Office

Lewis County Planned Growth (GMA) Committee Spahr City Mgr Annually
Planning & Building Mgr

Lewis County Public Transportation Benefit Area Authority Ketchum 3rd Tues of each month
(Twin Transit) Dawes - alt. 8:00 AM

TransAlta Commons (Centralia College)

3



Board/Committee Council Staff Meeting Info

Lewis County Solid Waste Advisory Committee Lord 1st Wed of each month
1:30 PM
Lewis County Public Services

Lewis County Solid Waste Disposal District Executive Committee Lord Once per year to approve budget

Lewis County Transportation Strategy Council Taylor City Mgr 3rd Mon of each month
Ketchum - alt. 2:00 PM

Lewis County Public Services

Lewis EDC Board Spahr 2nd Thurs of Jan, Mar, May, Jul, Sept, Nov
7:00 AM
Holiday Inn Express

Lodging Tax Advisory Committee Lord City Mgr's Admin Asst Annually or as needed
City Hall

Pt. 09 Committee Mayor 2nd Fri of Mar, Jun, Sept, Nov
8:30 AM
Lewis EDC

Sister City Committee Ketchum City Mgr's Admin Asst Currently suspended

SWW Economic Development Commission Spahr City Mgr Twice per year in Jan, Jun

SWW Regional Transportation Planning Organization Board Taylor 2nd Wed of Feb, May, Sept, Nov
Various member locations

4



Chehalis City Council         February 22, 2021 
 
 The Chehalis city council met in regular session on Monday, February 22, 2021.  Mayor Dennis Dawes called the meeting 
to order at 5:00 pm with the following council members present: Tony Ketchum, Jerry Lord, Dr. Isaac Pope, and Bob Spahr. 
Councilor Daryl Lund participated via Zoom.  Staff present included: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Tammy Baraconi, Planning & 
Building Manager; Caryn Foley, City Clerk; Kiley Franz, City Manager’s Administrative Assistant; Erin Hillier, City Attorney; Randy 
Kaut, Interim Police Chief (Zoom); Trent Lougheed, Public Works Director; Brandon Rakes, Airport Operations Coordinator; and 
Chun Saul, Finance Director. Celene Fitzgerald of The Chronicle attended the meeting via Zoom. Due to orders from the Governor’s 
office relating to COVID-19, members of the public and the press were able to view the meeting via live streaming or Zoom.  The 
public was also provided a process for submitting comments prior to the meeting. 
 

Please note: Due to technical issues, video recording of the meeting was lost. Minutes have been created as action 
minutes due to this loss.  
 
 1. Selection of New Mayor Pro Tem.  Councilor Ketchum nominated Councilor Lund for the position of Mayor Pro Tem. 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Pope and carried unanimously.   
 
 2. City Council Committee Assignments.  Mayor Dawes informed the council of the committee positions available due 
to former Councilor Taylor’s resignation. It was agreed that Councilor Lord would take the position on the Lodging Tax Advisory 
Committee, and Councilor Ketchum would take the position on the Lewis County Transportation Benefit Area Authority (Twin 
Transit). All council members agreed unanimously to these appointments. All other open positions will be assigned once a new 
council member is appointed.    
 
 3. Consent Calendar.  Councilor Spahr moved to approve the consent calendar comprised of the following: 
 

a. Minutes of the regular city council meeting of February 8, 2021; and 
 

 b. February 12, 2021 Claim Vouchers No. 131114 – 131222 and Electronic Funds Transfer Check Nos. 1136 – 1155, 
120210, and 120211 in the amount of $777,594.14; 

 
 The motion was seconded by Councilor Pope and carried unanimously. 
 
 4. Ordinance No. 1016-B, Second and Final Reading – Amending CMC 17.09 Permit Processing.  Councilor Spahr 
moved to adopt Ordinance No. 1016-B on second and final reading.  The motion was seconded by Councilor Lord and carried 
unanimously.  
 
 5. Council Member Vacancy Process.  City Manager Anderson informed the council that six applications had been 
received for the vacant council position; one applicant did not reside within city limits and was excluded from consideration. A 
special meeting will take place on Monday, March 1, 2021 to interview candidates.    
 

6. Request from Lewis County to Consider Opposing Acquisition of TransAlta Land by Washington State 
Department of Fish and Wildlife.  After discussion regarding the potential impacts to development, it was unanimously agreed 
by the council to send a letter of opposition to the Department of Fish and Wildlife.   
 

7. Consider Submitting Letter of Opposition to HB 1388 Relating to Motor Vehicle Sales – Zero Emission 
Vehicles.  After discussion regarding the potential community impacts HB 1388 would cause, the council unanimously agreed to 
send a letter of opposition to the legislature.  

 
8. Ordinance No. 1017-B, First Reading – Establishing 2020 Year-End Fund Balance Commitments.  Chun Saul 

provided an overview of the 2020 year-end fund balance commitments. A motion to approve Ordinance No. 1017-B on first reading 
was moved and seconded. The motion carried unanimously.   

 
9. Resolution No. 3-2021, First and Final Reading – Adopting the Public Participation Plan for the Update to the 

Shoreline Master Plan.  Tammy Baraconi explained that the Public Participation Plan was following the minimum guidelines set 
forth by the state. Councilor Spahr made a motion to approve Resolution No. 3-2021 on first and final reading.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilor Lord and carried unanimously.  

 
 

5



 
Chehalis City Council         February 22, 2021 

 
 10. Administration Reports. 
 

a.  City Manager Update.  City Manager Anderson informed the City Council and the public that sandbags were available 
for flood prevention. She also reminded the City Council that a special meeting would take place on Monday, March 1 at 5:00 pm 
to review candidates for the City Council vacancy.  

 
 11. Councilor Reports/Committee Updates.   
 
 a. Council members provided brief updates on their respective committees and activities.  
 
 12. Executive Session.  Mayor Dawes announced the council would take a short recess and then be in executive 
session pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(i) – Litigation/Potential Litigation and RCW 42.30.110(1)(c) – Sale/Lease of Real Estate, 
not to exceed 7:00 pm and there would be no action following conclusion of the executive session.  Mayor Dawes closed the 
regular meeting at 6:16 pm.  The executive session began at 6:19 pm. Following conclusion of the executive session, the regular 
meeting was reopened at 6:58 pm and immediately adjourned. 
 
  
 
               ______________________________ 
         Dennis L. Dawes, Mayor 
 
 
______________________________ 
Caryn Foley, City Clerk 
 
Approved:  
 
Initials: _____ 

 

 

  

6



Chehalis City Council                 March 1, 2021 
 
 The Chehalis city council met in special session on Monday, March 1, 2021.  Mayor Dennis Dawes called the meeting 
to order at 5:03 pm with the following council members present:  Tony Ketchum, Jerry Lord, Daryl Lund (Zoom), Dr. Isaac Pope, 
and Bob Spahr.  Staff present included: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Caryn Foley, City Clerk; Kiley Franz, City Manager’s 
Administrative Assistant; and Erin Hillier, City Attorney (Zoom).  Members of the news media present included Celene Fitzgerald 
of The Chronicle (Zoom). 
 
 1.  Interview Candidates for City Council Member At-Large No. 2 Vacant Position.  Mayor Dawes explained the 
purpose of the special meeting was to interview five individuals for the vacancy on the council.  He thanked the candidates for their 
willingness to apply for the position.  The order of interviews was drawn by random selection.  Each candidate was asked the same 
question by each council member.  The candidates were interviewed in the following order: 
 

1. Eric Carlson 

2. Kate McDougall 

3. Mike Bannan 

4. Terry Harris 

5. Lindsey Senter 

 Mayor Dawes stated the appointment would be until the next election was certified.  He explained the process for filing 
for those who were interested in running for office. 
 
 2.  Executive Session.  Mayor Dawes announced the council would be in executive session pursuant to RCW 
42.30.110(1)(h) – Evaluate Qualifications of a Candidate for Appointment to Elective Office not to exceed 6:30 pm and there would 
be action following conclusion of the executive session.  Mayor Dawes closed the regular meeting at 5:58 pm.  At 6:28 pm, Mayor 
Dawes announced additional time was needed in executive session not to exceed 6:45 pm.  Following conclusion of the executive 
session, the special meeting was reopened at 6:36 pm. 
 
 3.  Appoint Candidate to Fill City Council Member At-Large No. 2 Vacant Position.  Mayor Dawes explained the 
process for nominating candidates to fill the vacancy.  A vote would then be called on each nomination in the order they were 
nominated and the first candidate to receive four votes would be appointed to the vacant position.  Mayor Dawes asked for 
nominations. 
 
 Councilor Lund nominated Mike Bannan. 
 
 Councilor Pope nominated Terry Harris. 
 
 There being no further nominations, Mayor Dawes closed the nominations. 
 
 Mayor Dawes called for a vote on Mike Bannan.  Councilors Ketchum, Lord, and Lund voted in favor of Mr. Bannan. 
  
 Mayor Dawes called for a vote on Terry Harris.  Councilors Pope and Spahr and Mayor Dawes voted in favor of Mr. 
Harris. 
 
 City Attorney Hillier stated a majority of the council was needed to make an appointment.  She stated the council could 
take a revote, end the meeting and set another special meeting date, recess to a later time, or go back into executive session to 
further discuss. 
 
 Mayor Dawes announced the council would return into executive session pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1)(h) – Evaluate 
Qualifications of a Candidate for Appointment to Elective Office not to exceed 6:55 pm and there would be action following 
conclusion of the executive session.  Mayor Dawes closed the regular meeting at 6:45 pm.  Following conclusion of the executive 
session, the special meeting was reopened at 6:55 pm. 
 
 Mayor Dawes called for a vote on Mike Bannan.  Councilors Ketchum, Lord, Lund, and Mayor Dawes voted in favor of 
Mr. Bannan. 
 
 
 

7



Chehalis City Council                 March 1, 2021 
  
 Mayor Dawes called for a vote on Terry Harris.  Councilors Pope and Spahr voted in favor of Mr. Harris. 
 
 Mayor Dawes stated that Mr. Bannan would be sworn in during the council’s regular meeting of March 8.  There being 
no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:59 pm. 
 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
                  Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
Approved: 
 
Initials: 

 

8



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director  
    Michelle White, Accounting Tech II 
 
MEETING OF:  March 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: Vouchers and Transfers – Accounts Payable in the Amount of $229,982.58 
 

 
 
ISSUE 
 

City Council approval is requested for Vouchers and Transfers dated February 26, 2021.    
 
DISCUSSION 
 

The February 26, 2021 claim vouchers have been reviewed by a committee of three councilors prior to 
the release of payments.  The administration is requesting City Council approval for Claim Vouchers No. 
131223 – 131298 and Electronic Funds Transfer Check Nos. 1156 – 1181, 120212 and 120213 in the 
amount of $230,464.78 dated February 26, 2021 and voided Check No. 131190 in the amount of 
$482.20 for the net total of $229,982.58 as follows: 
 

• $ 58,239.57 from the General Fund 

• $ 2,376.68 from the Dedicated Street Fund – 4% Sales Tax 

• $ 24,959.94 from the Transportation Benefit District Fund 

• $ 2,488.91 from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund 

• $ 40,201.71 from the Public Facilities Reserve Fund 

• $ 72,751.57 from the Wastewater Fund 

• $ 20,153.89 from the Water Fund 

• $ 1,239.52 from the Storm & Surface Water Utility Fund 

• $ 7,569.45 from the Airport Fund 

• $ 429.54 from the Firemen’s Pension Fund 

• $ 54.00 from the Custodial Other Agency Fund 
$ 230,464.78 Total Vouchers for February 26, 2021 
$<482.20> Voided check for February 12, 2021 
$ 229,982.58 Net Total Transfers 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the February 26, 2021 Claim Vouchers No. 131223 – 
131298 and Electronic Funds Transfer Check Nos. 1156 – 1181, 120212 and 120213 in the amount of 
$230,464.78 and voided Check No. 131190 in the amount of $482.20 for the net total transfer of 
$229,982.58.  
 

9



SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council approve the February 26, 2021 Claim Vouchers No. 131223 – 131298 and 
Electronic Funds Transfer Check Nos. 1156 – 1181, 120212 and 120213 in the amount of $230,464.78 
and voided Check No. 131190 in the amount of $482.20 for the net total transfer of $229,982.58. 

10



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director 
    Betty Brooks, Payroll Accountant 
 
MEETING OF:  March 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:   Vouchers and Transfers – Payroll in the Amount of $770,705.24 
 
 
ISSUE 
 

City Council approval is requested for Payroll Vouchers and Transfers dated February 26, 2021. 
 

DISCUSSION 
 

The administration requests City Council approval for Payroll Vouchers No. 41576-41603, Direct Deposit 
Payroll Vouchers No. 13114-13217, Electronic Federal Tax and DRS Pension/Deferred Comp Payments 
No. 331-334 dated February 26, 2021 in the amount of $770,705.24, which include the transfer of: 
 

• $495,570.39 from the General Fund 
• $4,370.02 from the Arterial Street Fund 
• $5,197.50 from the LEOFF1 OPEB Reserve Fund 
• $119,311.50 from the Wastewater Fund 
• $97,827.20 from the Water Fund 
• $16,268.99 from the Storm & Surface Water Utility Fund 
• $32,159.64 from the Airport Fund 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the February 26, 2021 Payroll Vouchers No. 41576-
41603, Direct Deposit Payroll Vouchers No. 13114-13217, Electronic Federal Tax and DRS 
Pension/Deferred Comp Payments No. 331-334 in the amount of $770,705.24. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council approve the February 26, 2021, Payroll Vouchers No. 41576-41603, Direct 
Deposit Payroll Vouchers No. 13114-13217, Electronic Federal Tax and DRS Pension/Deferred Comp 
Payments No. 331-334 in the amount of $770,705.24. 

11



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Trent Lougheed, Public Works Director 
     
MEETING OF:  March 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:  12th & William Rechannelization Project - Change Order No. 1 in the Amount of 

$19,538.82 
  

 
ISSUE 
 

City Council approval is being requested for Change Order No. 1 for the 12th & William Rechannelization 
Project. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

On October 26th, 2020, Council awarded the 12th & William Rechannelization Project to KBH Construction 
in the amount of $134,698.00 and included a ten percent contingency of $13,470.00, which authorized 
the City Manager to execute change orders not to exceed the total project budget of $148,168.00.  Since 
award of the bid, three change order items have been identified that require Council approval as the total 
cost of the change order items exceeded the existing authority by $6,068.82.   
 

DISCUSSION 
 

The three change order items for the project are as follows: 
 

Change Order Item No. 1:  Additional Asphalt Removal – $16,390.4294:  During the demolition phase, it 
was discovered that the existing roadway pavement thickness was 12”-15” thick, where a standard 
roadway section is expected to be 3”-4”.  This required much more asphalt removal than anticipated, 
which required more crushed rock to be installed in order to achieve the necessary grades. This work 
included removal of additional asphalt from work area, haul and dispose of an additional 308 tons of 
asphalt concrete, and installation and compaction of an additional 300 tons of Crushed Surfacing Base 
Course to meet design grades. 
 

12



 
Change Order Item No. 2:  Additional Irrigation – $1,850.00:  Irrigation was not identified on the 
improvement plans, and staff determined it would be beneficial to extend irrigation into the planter strips 
in order to eliminate the need for hand watering during periods of dry weather.  This work included 
extension of irrigation lines from park irrigation system to new planter strip locations, including 
installation of 1” lateral PVC piping, installation of rotor heads, pop-up heads, and quick connect valves, 
installation of control wiring, splices, and terminations at the circuited power source, and pressure and 
performance testing. 
 

Change Order Item No. 3:  Additional Parking Lot Striping – $1,298.40:  The small parking lot 

adjacent to this new parking lot has very faded paint, and staff determined it would be beneficial 

to have the contractor re-stripe this parking lot when they stripe the new parking lot identified 

in the project.  This work includes re-striping the existing parking lot adjacent to the new parking 

lot in compliance with project specifications. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 

The total amount of Change Order No. 1 is $19,538.82.  However, approval of the Change Order will only 
increase the total authorized budget amount by $6,068.82 as Council had previously authorized a 
contingency budget of $13,470.00.  
 

Items #1 and #2 will be paid by the Transportation Benefit District Fund for a total of $18,240.42 (sales 
tax exempt).   
 

Item #3 will be paid by the Parks and Facilities Fund for a total of $1,298.40 (including sales tax), which is 
anticipated to be reimbursed by donated funds.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve Change Order No. 1 in the amount of $19,538.82 to 
complete the 12th & William Rechannelization Project, increasing the total project budget to $154,236.82. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council approve Change Order No. 1 in the amount of $19,538.82 to complete the 
12th & William Rechannelization Project, increasing the total project budget to $154,236.82. 

13



CITY OF CHEHALIS 
                1321 S Market Boulevard  

             Chehalis, Washington 98532 

     (360) 748-0271  /  Fax (360) 748-6993 

                 www.cityofchehalis.com 

 

 

CITY OF CHEHALIS 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

12TH & WILLIAMS RECHANNELIZATION PROJECT 
 

KBH CONSTRUCTION 

4805 101st Lane SW 

Olympia, Washington 98512 
 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 1 

Additional Asphalt Removal and Base Rock Installation, Additional Irrigation, and Additional Parking Lot 

Striping 

 

PART 1 – Change Initiation 
 

The Contractor encountered a much thicker roadway pavement section than anticipated during demolition for the 

project improvements.  The City desires to have irrigation extended to the planter strips to eliminate the need of 

hand watering, and the existing parking lot next to the new parking lot needs re-striping.   

 

PART 2 – Evaluation of Cause and Justification 
 

During the demolition phase, it was discovered that the existing roadway pavement thickness was 12”-15” thick, 

where a standard roadway section is expected to be 3”-4”.  This required much more asphalt removal than 

anticipated, which required more crushed rock to be installed in order to achieve the necessary grades.   

 

Irrigation was not identified on the improvement plans, and staff determined it would be beneficial to extend 

irrigation into the planter strips in order to eliminate the need for hand watering during periods of dry weather. 

 

The small parking lot adjacent to this new parking lot has very faded paint, and staff determined it would be 

beneficial to have the Contractor re-stripe this parking lot when they stripe the new parking lot identified in the 

project.  

 

PART 3 – Scope of Work 

 

ADDITIONAL ASPHALT REMOVAL 
 

• Remove additional asphalt from work area 

• Haul and dispose of an additional 308 tons of asphalt concrete 

• Install and compact an additional 300 tons of Crushed Surfacing Base Course to meet design grades 

 
 
 
 

14



ADDITIONAL LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION  
 

• Extend irrigation lines from park irrigation system to new planter strip locations, including installation 

of 1” lateral PVC piping, installation of rotor heads, pop-up heads, quick connect valves 

• Install control wiring, splices, and terminations at the circuited power source 

• Include all pressure and performance testing 

 
ADDITIONAL PARKING LOT STRIPING 

 

• Re-stripe existing parking lot adjacent to new parking lot in compliance with project specifications 

 
PART 4 – Contractor Proposal 

The Contractor’s Lump Sum costs for the above change order items are as follows: 

• Additional Asphalt Removal and CSBC Installation = $16,390.42 (tax exempt) 

• Additional Irrigation = $1,850.00 (tax exempt) 

• Additional Parking Lot Striping = $1,298.40 (tax included) 

 

PART 5 – Negotiation Record 

 

The work completed was necessary to achieve the improvements that were designed.  The advantage of having a 

fully mobilized contractor to complete the additional parking lot striping with work-ready construction equipment 

and labor resources on site substantially minimizes costs compared to contracting separately for the work.  We find 

the site preparatory works and underground infrastructure elements contemplated in the original budget estimate 

compare closely to the Contractor’s proposal, which calculated unit prices are comparable to original contract 

pricing. 

 

PART 6 – Supplemental Information 

KBH Construction Lump Sum Proposal 
 
Based on the foregoing, we recommend the approval of Change Order #1 in the amount of $19,538.82, including 
sales tax on applicable item(s). 
 
No additional time will be added as a result of this Change Order. 
 
Submitted by: 
 
      
Trent Lougheed, P.E. 
Public Works Director 
 
 
Approved by: 
 
      
Jill Anderson, City Manager 
City of Chehalis 

15



 

 

CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Trent Lougheed, Public Works Director     

Brandon Rakes, Airport Operations Coordinator 
 
DATE:    March 8, 2021    
 
SUBJECT:  Agreement to Lease Tract 9 at 1850 NW Louisiana Avenue to O’Brien Auto Team, an 

Illinois Corporation   
 

 
ISSUE 
 

The Chehalis-Centralia Airport has prepared an agreement to lease Tract 9 to the O’Brien Auto Team, an 
Illinois corporation, to construct an automobile dealership.  This parcel is located on the Airport’s property 
at 1850 NW Louisiana Avenue between I-5 Toyota and Dutch Bros Coffee.  
  

INTRODUCTION 
 

Attorney John Elias has been in negotiations with the Chehalis-Centralia Airport on behalf of his client, the 
O’Brien Auto Team, to lease a site for an automobile dealership. The proposed site, Tract 9, is  
approximately four gross acres of land. 
 

The O’Brien Auto Team has extensive dealership experience. They have interests in several locations 
around the United States, representing multiple vehicle brands.  
 

This transaction’s structure is slightly different from the City’s models used in the past for lease 
agreements. The proposed transaction includes two parts. The purpose of this revision is to provide more 
structure throughout the transaction. 
 

1) Agreement to Lease: First, there is an Agreement to Lease that lays out the proposal’s terms and 
provides an initial engagement during which due diligence may occur. There is earnest money 
during this part of the transaction, and it is very similar in nature to the inspection period when 
purchasing a residential home. This document provides more structure and clarity than a formal 
Letter of Intent.  

 

2) Ground Lease: Second, there is the Ground Lease. Upon Closing the Agreement to Lease, which 
will occur no later than four months from the effective date of the Agreement to Lease, unless 
the Agreement to Lease is terminated, the Ground Lease will become effective. The Ground Lease 
establishes additional indemnity clauses and other legal provisions for the term of the Ground 
Lease. No further action would be required by the City Council to transition from the Agreement 
to Lease to the Ground Lease.  

 
TERMS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

The Chehalis-Centralia Airport ordered a Determination of Market Rent in October of 2020.  This 
information was used to negotiate the Agreement to Lease and Ground Lease submitted for consideration 

16



 

 

at this time. O’Brien Auto Team has agreed to the following provisions in the Agreement to Lease which 
are summarized below.  
 

Agreement to Lease 
 

• Effective Date (Effectiveness): The Agreement to Lease commences when all parties have 
signed the Agreement to Lease. Part 4 of the Agreement to Lease establishes a closing date. 
The closing date shall occur on the 30th day after the end of the Inspection Period or on such 
earlier date upon five days written notice by Tenant to Landlord. This period will not exceed 
four months.  

• Earnest Money and Escrow: The City will receive the amount of $40,000, which shall be 
credited towards payment of rent described in Section 1.3 of the proposed Agreement to 
Lease.  

• Inspection: Ninety (90 days)  following the Agreement to Lease commencement as stated 
in Section 3.3 of the Agreement to Lease.  

• Rent: Rent is addressed in terms of the Ground Lease that will be in effect after the Closing 
Date defined in Section 4.1 of the Agreement to Lease.  

• Term: The term of the Agreement to Lease concludes at Closing which is defined in Section 
4.1 of the Agreement to Lease as occurring on the 30th day after the end of the Inspection 
Period or on such earlier date upon five days written notice by Tenant to Landlord.  

 

The Lease also includes indemnity clauses and other legal provisions that set forth both parties’ rights 
during the course of the lease term. The executed Ground Lease will guide both parties in the process of 
developing the property.   
 

The O’Brien Team has agreed to the following provisions included in the Ground Lease which are 
summarized below.  
 

Ground Lease 
 

•  Effective Date (Effectiveness): The closing date of the Agreement to Lease will be the 
Ground Lease’s Effective Date. 

• Deposit: The City will receive the amount of $40,000, which shall be credited towards 
payment of rent described in Section 4.1a of the proposed Ground Lease. As stated in 
Section 8.2 of the Lease, if the Tenant terminates the Lease after the 90 day inspection 
period, the deposit shall not be refunded.  

• Inspection: Ninety (90 days)  following the Effective Date of the Ground Lease for Tenant to 
complete due diligence work described in Section 8.2 of the proposed Lease.  

• Rent: Amount of rent and rent commencement date as described in Section 4 of the 
proposed Ground Lease. Rent will begin when the Tenant is issued a certificate of occupancy 
for its new car dealership, but no later than 18 months following the Effective Date of the 
Ground Lease.     

• Term: Length of the lease term is 20 years with five additional and consecutive 10-year 
terms; with additional extension clauses described in Section 3.1 of the proposed Ground 
Lease. 

 
The City Attorney has carefully reviewed the agreement and made modifications as needed to protect the 
rights of the City.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 

If the proposed Lease is accepted, the City will receive an initial lease revenue of $92,347.20 annually 
restricted for the operation of the Chehalis-Centralia Airport. This initial revenue is subject to a schedule 

17



 

 

of upward rent adjustments to maintain fair market value over the term of the Lease. Sales tax revenue 
from any retail activity would be considered General Fund revenue that is used to fund the City’s 
general operations, including the provision of police and fire services.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the Agreement to Lease and the Ground Lease with the 
O’Brien Auto Team for Tract 9 at 1850 NW Louisiana Avenue and authorize the City Manager to execute 
the documents.   
 

SUGGESTED MOTION  
 

I move that the City Council approve the Agreement to Lease and the Ground Lease with the O’Brien Auto 
Team for Tract 9 at 1850 NW Louisiana Avenue and authorize the City Manager to execute the documents.   

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



 

 

CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director 
 
MEETING OF:  March 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:   Ordinance No. 1017-B, Second and Final Reading – Establishing 2020 Year-End Fund 

Balance Commitments 
 

 
ISSUE 
 

Ordinance No. 1017-B was presented for first reading on February 22, 2021. During the presentation, 
typing errors for amounts relating to debt service were noticed. The Agenda report and the Ordinance 
No. 1017-B have been updated to reflect the correct amount. 
 

NEW FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS 
 

Starting in the 2020 reporting year, the Washington State Auditor’s BARS Manual requires beginning and 
ending cash and investments (fund balances) be classified in five fund balance categories as follows: 
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned. The Committed fund balance 
classification requires most binding formal action (Ordinance) by the City Council. 
 

The chart below summarizes the fund balance classifications and specific requirements. 
 

New 
Classification 

Authority Purpose Old 
Classification 

Nonspendable 
 

Inherent Nonfinancial resources (i.e., endowment fund) Reserved 

 
Restricted 

 

External 
restrictions 

Restrictions on the purpose or use of resources imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation, 
or contracts (i.e., creditors, grantors, bond covenants, 
donors, or other governments).  

Reserved 

 
Committed 

Internal 
commitments 
 

Specific (not generic) limitations that the government 
imposes upon itself by the governing body through the most 
binding formal action (i.e., resolution, ordinance, etc.) and 
that remains binding unless removed in the same manner.  

Reserved 

 
Assigned 

Intended use   Amounts intended to be used by the government for 
specific purposes that are neither restricted nor committed.  
Can be done in an informal way such as a motion or other 
form of directive. 
The creation of a fund outside of the general fund is 
considered at least assigned since the creation of a fund 
automatically sets aside the monies for a purpose.  

Unreserved 

 
Unassigned 

Any allowable 
use & purpose 
of that fund. 

All other funds that are not reported in other categories. Unreserved 

 

59



 

 

These classifications indicate “the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can be spent.” The classifications reflect these 
limitations and inform management and financial statement users how much of the government’s 
resources are reserved for a specific purpose or use and how much is freely available for spending for 
any allowable purpose of that fund. 
 
Budget documents approved by resolution or ordinance do not meet criteria for classifying balances as 
committed because the budget only represents the government’s authorized spending during the 
period, rather than a constraint on remaining balances at year end.  In other words, a budget deals with 
plans for anticipated revenues and expenditures – resources not yet collected, and expenditures not yet 
incurred – whereas an internal commitment imposes a permanent constraint on currently existing 
financial resources. 
 
Merely creating “reserve” funds through resolution or ordinance to set money aside for a different 
purpose or circumstance (i.e., emergency fund or rainy-day fund) does not automatically classify the 
entire fund balance as committed.  
 
The government may establish a policy for its intended order of use of classification balances when an 
expenditure is incurred in which restricted, committed, and assigned cash and investment balances can 
be used to pay the expenditure. In absence of an approved policy, it is assumed that the government 
will use the most restricted cash and investment balance first. 
 

PROPOSED COMMITMENTS FOR 2020 YEAR END FUND BALANCE 
 

General Fund: The preliminary ending cash and investment (fund balance) of the City’s General Fund as 
of 12/31/2020 is $2,240,826, which is about 22% of the 2020 general fund actual revenues.  
 
$119,536 of the total fund balance is restricted which includes the drug seizure fund, municipal court 
bail deposit, and unspent donations received for parks and recreation programs. The remaining 
$2,137,228 can be classified as committed, assigned, or unassigned. 
 
On February 2, 2021, the City Manager and Finance Director met with the City Council Budget 
Committee members and discussed whether a portion of the General Fund’s ending fund balance as of 
12/31/2020 should be committed for specific purposes.  The Council Budget Committee recommended 
a total of $465,000 of the General Fund ending fund balance to be Committed for the following 
purposes: 
 

• $200,000 for payments for accrued leave cash outs for future general fund retirees  

• $100,000 for vehicle replacements 

• $100,000 for City’s financial software upgrade 

• $  65,000 for police evidence garage 
 
The Committee recommended that the remaining $1,656,290 be classified as unassigned. This will allow 
replenishing the $444,680 reserves used to balance the 2021 budget, maintain the Council goal of 10% 
operating reserves, and provide about $182,246 cushion for any unexpected revenue shortfall or 
additional expenditures during 2021. 
 
Reserve Funds: In addition to the General Fund, the City maintains the following general revenue funded 
reserve funds. These funds are managerial funds in nature and are rolled-up into the general fund for 
financial reporting purposes. The total ending fund balances of these funds are classified as assigned by 
default except any portion that is designated as Committed by the City Council. It is recommended that 

60



 

 

the following fund balances as of 12/31/2020 be designated as Committed for the following specific 
purposes: 
 

• $  28,520 is committed for debt service  (Dedicated Street) 

• $198,020 is committed for future retiree leave cash outs (Compensated Absences) 

• $101,107 is committed for LEOFF 1 retiree medical and long-term care benefits (LEOFF 1 OPEB) 

• $108,178 is committed for vehicle replacement (Automotive/Equipment Reserve) 
 
Restricted Governmental Funds: The ending cash and investments (fund balances) in the Arterial Street 
Fund, TBD Fund, Lodging Tax Fund, CDBG Fund, HUD Block Grant Fund, and REET Funds are reported as 
restricted as the revenue sources have statutory limitations on how they can be used, except for the 
following amounts that are committed for specific purposes: 
 

• $  71,563 is committed for 2019 LTGO (Recreation Park) debt service (Lodging Tax Fund) 

• $130,196 is committed for 2020 LTGO (Temporary Fire Station) debt service (1Q REET Fund) 

• $  75,131 is committed for 2011 LTGO (City Hall) debt service (2Q REET Fund) 
 
Public Facilities Reserve Fund: The ending fund balance consists of $431,326 bond proceeds remaining 
for temporary fire station project and $257,582 unspent donations received for the Recreation Park 
Renovation project. These amounts will be reported as restricted. The remaining fund balance of about 
$269,500 will be reported as assigned for general and park facilities repairs/replacements/acquisitions 
approved by the City Council. 
 
Enterprise Funds: Fund balances in enterprise funds will include restricted amounts for refundable 
customer deposits and minimum debt service reserve required by debt covenants and assigned balances 
for everything else that can be spent for that enterprise fund activity. 
 

SUMMARY 
 

In summary, the following portions of the City’s December 31, 2020 governmental fund balances are 
designated as Committed: 
 

• $398,020 is committed for accrued leave cash out payments for retiring employees 

• $208,178 is committed for vehicle replacement 

• $100,000 is committed for financial software/system upgrade 

• $  65,000 is committed for police evidence garage 

• $  28,520 is committed for debt service (Dedicated Street) 

• $101,107 is committed for LEOFF 1 retiree medical and long-term care benefits (LEOFF 1 OPEB) 

• $  71,563 is committed for 2019 LTGO (Recreation Park) debt service (Lodging Tax) 

• $130,196 is committed for 2020 LTGO (Temporary Fire Station) debt service (1Q REET) 

• $  75,131 is committed for 2011 LTGO (City Hall) debt service (2Q REET) 
 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

It is recommended that the City Council authorize a total of $1,177,715 of the City’s governmental fund 
balances as of 12/31/2020, including $465,000 from the General Fund, to be Committed for the 
amounts and specific purposes and uses as provided above, authorize the City Manager to designate 
other fund balances as Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council, and pass Ordinance 
No. 1017-B on second and final reading. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council pass Ordinance No. 1017-B on second and final reading. 

61



 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 1017-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
ESTABLISHING FUND BALANCE DESIGNATION AS PROVIDED BY 
WASHINGTON STATE AUDITOR’S BARS MANUAL FOR CASH BASIS 
ENTITY FOR YEAR END 2020. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Washington State Auditor’s Office Cash Basis BARS Manual 

established a new classification system in 2020 requiring the beginning and ending cash and 
investments (fund balances) to be classified as “nonspendable,” “restricted,” “committed,” 
“assigned,” or “unassigned”; and 

 
WHEREAS, these classifications indicate “the extent to which the government is bound to 

honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can be spent”; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Committed fund balance classification identifies internal fund 

commitments with limitations that the City imposes upon itself through formal binding action by 
the City Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Assigned fund balance classification identifies funds intended to be used 

for specific purposes that are neither restricted, nor committed, and do not require formal 
binding action by City Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds it beneficial to designate certain fund balances as 

Committed for specific purposes or projects and for the City Manager to designate certain other 
fund balances as Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  The fund balances of the City of Chehalis designated in this Ordinance are 

Committed for the specific purposes indicated.  Amendments or modifications of the Committed 
fund balances set forth herein shall require formal action by the City Council. 

 
Section 2.  The City Council authorizes the City Manager to categorize other fund balances 

as Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council. 
 
Section 3.  The following portions of the City’s December 31, 2020 fund balances are 

designated as Committed: 
 
$398,020 is committed for Accrued Leave Cash Out Payments for Retiring Employees 
$208,178 is committed for Vehicle Replacement 

62



 

 

$100,000 is committed for Financial Software/System Upgrade 
$  65,000 is committed for Police Evidence Garage 
$ 285,520  is committed for Debt Service (Dedicated Street) 
$101,107 is committed for LEOFF 1 Retiree Medical and Long-Term Care Benefits (LEOFF 1 OPEB) 

$  71,563 is committed for 2019 LTGO (Recreation Park) Debt Service (Lodging Tax) 
$130,196 is committed for 2020 LTGO (Temporary Fire Station) Debt Service (1Q REET) 
$  75,13153 is committed for 2011 LTGO (City Hall) Debt Service (2Q REET) 
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by its 

Mayor at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this _____ day of 
____________________, 2021. 

 
 
 

        ______________________________ 
Mayor 

 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
______________________________ 
 City Attorney 
 

63




